
MILLERSBURG CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
February 13, 2018 

City Council Meeting 
6:30 PM  

Call Meeting to Order 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Adoption of the Consent Agenda 
1) Approval of Meeting Minutes

a. Joint Executive Session with Albany  City Council
11/30/2017

b. City Council Meeting of 1/9/2018
2) Approval of Monthly Bills

Linn County Sheriff’s Office Report 
• Attached Report LCSO

Guest Presentation 
• Millersburg Community Event - Jenny Wolfenbarger

Public Comments 

City Manager’s Report 

Old Business 
1). Clearwater Pavement Condition - Report 

New Business 
1).  Approval of Stormwater Master Plan Contract 
2).  Report on State actions regarding Stormwater 
3).  Update of Road Frontage Fee’s 
4).  Ordinance for the Private Construction of Public Improvements 
5).  Update to Charter for signatures – City Attorney 
6).  Contract Amendment with CH2M 
7). Contract Amendment  with OMI 
8). Resolution for the Remittance of Construction Excise Tax 

Closing Public Comments 

Mayor and Council  
• Recognition of Clayton Wood – Mayor Lepin
• Recognition of Boy’s Scout’s project – Mayor Lepin

Recess:  To executive session in accordance with ORS 192.660(2)(h) Consultation with Legal Counsel; ORS 
192.660(2)(e) Real Property Transactions. 



 
Adjournment: 
 
Upcoming meetings: 
 
City Council Work Session – February 27, 2018 at 4:00 p.m. 
 
City Council Meeting – March 13, 2018 at 6:30 p.m. 
 
 
 





 

1 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

January 9, 2018 City Council Minutes 
City Hall 

4222 Old Salem Road NE 

Albany, OR  97321 

6:30 p.m. 

 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Called to order by Mayor Lepin at 6:30 p.m. 

 

B. ROLL CALL 

 

Councilors Present: Mayor Jim Lepin, Don Miller, Scott Cowan, Dave Harms, Scott McPhee 

and Student Representative Bradly Johnston 

Councilors Absent: None  

Staff Present: Kevin Kreitman, Interim City Manager; Kimberly Wollenburg, City 

Recorder; Janelle Booth, City Planner; Forrest Reid, City Attorney; Jake 

Gabell, Deputy Recorder/Clerk 

 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

D. CHANGES AND ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

1) Addition of two items to agenda 

2) Revised Council Approval Report for Monthly City Bills 

 

E. CONSENT AGENDA 

1) Approval of 12/12/2017 City Council Meeting Minutes 

2) Approval of 12/26/2017 City Council Meeting Minutes 

3) Approval of Council Approval Report for Monthly City Bills 

 

Action: Motion to Adopt Consent Agenda as presented made by Scott McPhee, seconded by 

Scott Cowan: Passed 5-0 
 

F. GUEST PRESENTATIONS 

1) Monthly Report from the Linn County Sheriff’s Office 

  



 

2 | P a g e  

 

G. PUBLIC COMMENT 

1) Gary Keehn asked if Janelle Booth, City Engineer, was going to look at Clearwater 

Road for repair work as needed. 

2) Citizen Pauff expressed a concern about the visibility on the north side of N. Salem.  

3) Councilor Scott Cowan mentioned a leaning tree on the north side of Alexander coming 

off Salem Avenue. 

Action: Ms. Booth noted she would visit each site for review. 

4) Dennis Gunner asked about someone handling code enforcement. Mayor Jim Lepin 

noted code enforcement would be addressed later. 

5) Gary Keehn asked for an update on the reload facility. Response: John Pascone, shared 

that the Mid-Willamette Valley Reload Facility applications are in and four were 

received. A determination on best application will be made within next couple of 

weeks. 

6) Gary Keehn asked if the City had anything to do with the Oregon Department of 

Transportation (ODOT) on the exchange. John Pascone said there is a dedicated truck 

lane from the highway that goes right into the property. He anticipates a decision on the 

overpass closure by ODOT mid-January. 

7) Gary Keehn asked for an update on the fire station. City Manager Kevin Kreitman 

noted no update since the December 26, 2017 meeting. 

8) Dennis Gunner asked to discuss code enforcement. Mr. Kreitman shared that the plan is 

to address based on citizen complaints as there are no dedicated code enforcement staff. 

He also noted the plan to work with a contract planner to evaluate program, develop a 

manual and train staff. Council Cowan agreed with Mr. Gunner and wanted to make 

sure checks and balances actually happen. Mr. Gunner and Connie Lepin shared 

concerns that there are too many variances being approved inconsistently. Mr. Kreitman 

and Mayor Lepin shared again the plan for the contract planner to review and revise 

code enforcement. 

Action:  City Attorney, Forrest Reid noted a fifteen (15) day appeal period. He would 

clarify the call-up day time frame for next meeting. 
 

H. COUNCIL MEMBER AND STAFF COMMENTS 

1) Mayor Lepin: 

i. He sent a letter to the Linn County Sheriff’s Office commending and thanking 

them for their extra visibility within the City and particularly the park, including 

talking to the public about dogs off leash in the park. 

ii. There is a joint Albany and Millersburg City Council meeting on January 18, 

2018 at 5:00 p.m. at the Albany City Hall. The purpose is primarily to discuss 

options for modifications to the wastewater treatment process to deal with 

disposal of solids. 

iii. On January 23, 2018 at 4:00 p.m., there is a City Council Work Session with 

one of the items to discuss the City owned properties. 

2) Councilor Cowan: 

i. Thanked Mayor Lepin for his dedication and work while going through 

transition and dealing with the rollercoaster of events. 

  



 

3 | P a g e  

 

 

3) Councilor McPhee: 

i. Asked about slide at the park. Mr. Kreitman noted he saw the slide and talked to 

the City’s maintenance supervisor. Because of the construction of the new slide 

(one solid piece), the City will need to contract with the placement. 

Action: The City is getting quotes for the work to replace the park slide. 

4) Councilor Miller: 

i. Noted there will be two members of the Council up for election the end of this 

year and that he’s concerned with losing institutional knowledge if they depart. 

 

I. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

1) Have issued notice of intent to award the stormwater management plan project. After a 

7 day protest period, will begin contract negotiations with the intent of coming to 

Council for award at the February 13, 2018 Council Meeting. 

2) There’s a work session with the Planning Commission and our City Planner – John 

Morgan – on January 16 for introductions, to review city land use processes and 

procedures and discuss options to audit and update City Land Use Code and/or consider 

a clean re-write of the Land Use Code.  Mr. Morgan will also be at the January 23 City 

Council Work Session. 

3) The City of Albany approved the consolidation of two Clean Water State Revolving 

Fund loans for the water reclamation facility in which Millersburg has a joint ownership 

into single loan with a lower interest rate and annual fee.  This will result in interest 

savings of approximately $345,000 over the remaining life of the loans.   

4) Love’s Travel Center made payment of $34,247.00 for the prior under-calculation and 

payment of sewer system development charges (SDCs). 

 

J. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 

None 

 

K. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1) Proposed Dog Leash Ordinance for City Park 

Recommendation by City Attorney, Forrest Reid, that Dog Control Code 560, Linn 

County’s code, is sufficient to address Millersburg concerns over unleashed and dogs 

not under owner’s control.  

Action: Council requested Linn County Sheriff begin enforcement of the code, 

including issuing citations. Park signage will be updated to reflect code and link 

with code added to City website. 
 

L. NEW BUSINESS 

1) Adoption of Resolution Authorizing the Payment of Certain Operating Invoices Upon 

Receipt 

Action: Motion made by Scott Cowan to accept resolution, as amended to include 

Linn County Planning and Permitting to the list of approved payments; seconded 

by Scott McPhee. Passed 5-0. 

Resolution: 2018-01 

  



 

4 | P a g e  

 

2) Adoption of Resolution Adopting the Rate of the City of Albany for Water Service 

Charges for Services (installation of meter bases) Provided to the City of Millersburg by 

the City of Albany, and Further Directing the Millersburg City Recorder to Annually 

Revise These Fees Based Upon the City of Albany’s Annual Fee Revision 

Action: Motion made by Scott Cowan to approve resolution to update City of 

Millersburg water service charges, including actual costs, as amended with 

corrections to Exhibit A; seconded by Don Miller. Passed 5-0. 

Resolution:  2018-02 

3) Adoption of Resolution Approving an Extended Property Tax Abatement Agreement 

between the City of Albany, a Cosponsor of the South Santiam Enterprise Zone and 

Griffin Bros, Inc. 

Action:  Motion made by Dave Harms to adopt resolution for the proposal of 

extended property tax abatement agreement with City of Albany and Griffin Bros; 

seconded by Scott Cowan. Passed 5-0. 

Resolution:  2018-03 

4) City Manager Position 

Mayor Lepin presented sequence of events that led to the recommendation by City 

Council to approve the hiring of Kevin Kreitman, Interim City Manager, to a position as 

City Manager. Acknowledged and supported by Councilors Scott Cowan and Don 

Harms and from citizens Deb Keehn and Dennis Gunner. Don Dixon asked for 

clarification regarding hiring process, beginning with bringing Mr. Kreitman to 

Millersburg. 

Action: Motion made by Scott McPhee to approve hiring of Kevin Kreitman as 

City Manager; seconded by Scott Cowan. Passed 5-0. 

5) City Reorganization 

Mr. Kreitman presented the proposed organizational chart with the addition of a 

Management Assistant and Assistant City Manager/City Engineer and discussed cost 

balance between adding new staff and reducing contracted engineering costs. After 

discussion, those present determined the addition versus reduction would balance out 

evenly. 

Action: Motion made by Scott Cowan to approve the two (2) new positions. 

seconded by Dave Harms. Passed 5-0. 

 

M. CLOSING PUBLIC COMMENT 

None 

 

N. CLOSING COUNCIL COMMENT 

None 

 

O. ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned at 8:30 p.m. 

 

 

Upcoming Meetings: 

January 16, 2018 @ 6:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Work Session 

January 18, 2018 @ 5:00 p.m. – Joint Council Meeting with Albany – Albany City Hall 

January 23, 2018 @ 4:00 p.m. – Council Work Session  



TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

DATE: February 6, 2018, for the February 13, 2018 Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Accounts Payable Monthly - Council Approval Report 

 
Action Requested:  Consent agenda approval of the attached accounts payable. One item of 
interest includes payment to Pacific Power for the re-lamping and addition of street lights on Old 
Salem Road which was previously approved by the City Council for $61,011.00. 
 
Included is a copy of our Local Government Invest Pool (LGIP) account balances; the main 
account 5809 – Millersburg City Of, includes water and sewer SDC funds, property taxes 
received, franchise fees received, user fees for water and sewer, planning and building fees 
received.  
 
Discussion:    
Statements attached. 
 
 

























 

 

LINN COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE 
 

Bruce W. Riley, Sheriff 
1115 S.E. Jackson Street 

Albany, OR 97322 
Phone: 541-967-3950 
www.linnsheriff.org 

 

 

 

2018 
 

MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

FROM THE LINN COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

 

 

 

FOR THE MONTH OF:                January  

  

TRAFFIC CITATIONS: --------------------------------------------- 14 

TRAFFIC WARNINGS: ---------------------------------------------      10        

TRAFFIC CRASHES: ------------------------------------------------ 1 

ADULTS CITED / VIOLATIONS: -------------------------------- 0 

ADULTS ARRESTED: ----------------------------------------------- 2 

JUVENILES CITED / VIOLATIONS: --------------------------- 0 

JUVENILES ARRESTED: ------------------------------------------ 0 

COMPLAINTS/INCIDENTS INVESTIGATED: -------------- 

TRAFFIC HOURS-----------------------------------------------------  

ADMINISTRATION HOURS---------------------------------------                         

74 

37 

2 

  

 

TOTAL HOURS SPENT IN: MILLERSBURG 139 

 
 

      CONTRACT HOURS= 113 HOURS 

 

       

 
Bruce W. Riley, 

         Sheriff, Linn County 

 

         By: Sergeant Greg Klein 



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, City Engineer 

DATE: February 13, 2018 

SUBJECT: Clearwater Pavement Condition 

 
Action Requested:   
None   

Purpose: 
The purpose of this memo is to document observations of the pavement condition on Clearwater 
and the sight distance at the intersection of Clearwater and Old Salem Road. 
 
Background: 
At the council meeting on January 9, 2018 citizens brought up concerns about the condition of the 
pavement on Clearwater.  The concerns were regarding cracks in the pavement and the amount of 
recent construction traffic from the Sweetwater subdivision.  There was also a concern about 
sight distance on the northwest corner of the intersection of Clearwater and Old Salem Road. 
 
Observations and Discussion: 
On January 10, 2018, I visited the site and observed the condition of the pavement.  Clearwater 
drive was constructed as two phases of construction.  From Luciamute east was constructed in 
1998 as a part of the first addition of the Sweetwater Estates Subdivision.  The portion west of 
Luckiamute was constructed in 2004 as part of the second addition. 
 
The portion of Clearwater west of Luckiamute is exhibiting transverse cracking at regular 
intervals.  These cracks are most often located at a manhole or intersection.  This type of 
cracking, called thermal cracking, is the result of shrinkage of the asphalt surface due to low 
temperatures or asphalt binder hardening.  This type of cracking is typically not associated with 
traffic loads. 
 
The pavement on Clearwater from Luckiamute east is exhibiting transverse and longitudinal 
cracks, as well as surface raveling. This is likely due to the age of the pavement and lack of 
maintenance, not excessive traffic loading.   
 
On both sections of Clearwater, I did not observe rutting or alligator cracking, which would 
typically be associated with pavement damage due to excessive traffic loading. 
 
I also observed the sight distance at the intersection of Clearwater and Old Salem Road.  From the 
original stop bar, the sight distance to the north is limited by a hedge that runs along the Old 
Salem Road right-of-way.  The hedge does not appear to be overgrown and is appropriately 
trimmed.  At some time in the past, a second stop bar was painted, closer to Old Salem Road.  
When a vehicle pulls forward to this location, sight distance to the north is not obstructed. 
 
Recommendation: 
It is recommended that Millersburg implement a comprehensive pavement maintenance program 
for the city.  Because Clearwater is one of the older streets within the city it should be one of the 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 2 
February 13, 2018 
 
first considered for maintenance activities. For the western portion of Clearwater, it is 
recommended that the cracks be sealed.  For the eastern portion, a grind and inlay is 
recommended. 

For the sight distance at the intersection of Clearwater and Old Salem Road, it is recommended 
that the City speak to the County Road Department about the history of the intersection and stop 
bar and find out their recommendations regarding this intersection. 

Budget Impact: 
Budget impacts associated with developing a street maintenance program and associated projects 
will be addressed separately. 
 
Attachments: 
Photos 









TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

DATE: February 13, 2018 City Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Approval of Agreement for Stormwater System Evaluation and Master Plan  

 

Action Requested:  Approval to enter into a Professional Services Contract for a Retainer 

Agreement to Furnish Consulting Engineering Services to the City of Millersburg with Cardno, 

Inc., for Stormwater System Evaluation and Stormwater System Master Plan development. 

 

Discussion:   

The City of Millersburg, at the March 14, 2017, City Council meeting, received and discussed a 

proposed scope of work and estimated fee for preparation of a stormwater master plan that had 

been developed at Council’s request.  The goal was to provide Council with awareness of what 

would be required to develop a stormwater master plan. The costs for a stormwater master plan 

were estimated at $180,000 to $190,000.  The Council was requested to review the document 

with the understanding it would likely be on the following month’s Council calendar as an action 

item.  

 

At the April 10, 2017, City Council meeting, a motion was made to move forward with the 

development of a stormwater master plan which passed unanimously.  On October 17, 2017 a 

Request for Proposal (RFP) for consultant services for a Stormwater Master Plan for the City was 

published. Upon review of the RFP prior to the due date of November 10, 2017, several critical 

errors with regard to the Request were identified, and the RFP was withdrawn.  Subsequently, a 

new Request for Statements of Qualifications (RFQ) for Consultant Engineering Services for 

Stormwater System Evaluation and Stormwater System Master Plan was issued on November 17, 

2017. 

 

In response to the RFQ, qualifications statements from six firms were received. Following review 

and evaluation of the each of the firms’ qualifications, Cardno, Inc., was selected as the firm best 

qualified to meet Millersburg’s needs.  The City entered into contract negotiations with the 

Cardno, Inc., last month and has negotiated a scope of work and estimated fees for the project. 

The attached contract, scope of work, fee estimate and schedules are based on a Not-To-Exceed 

budget estimate, with benchmarks and City approvals required.  We are aware that there may be 

some areas which may require budget modification, but that would only occur with written 

concurrence and approval by the City. 

  

Budget Impact:   

The estimated cost for completion of the Stormwater System Evaluation and Stormwater Master 

Plan is $160,252.00; if all the of the optional tasks are requested by the City.  Funding of the 

project will occur in our current budget year and fiscal year 2018-19.  Staff is recommending the 

Council move to approve funding of $100,000.00 for fiscal year 2017-18 from the Sewer Utility 

Fund, Operating Contingency account #06-7000.  The 2018-19 proposed Budget will include a 

line item for the remaining expenses associated with the master plan.   

 

Recommendation:   

Staff would ask that Council approve entering into the agreement and authorize the City Manager 

to sign the attached Professional Services Agreement for a Retainer to Furnishing Consulting 

Engineering Services to the City of Millersburg including Attachment “A” Scope of Work with 



City of Millersburg 

Page 2 

February 13, 2018 

 

Cardno, Inc. for up to $160,252.00; and approve funding of $100,000.00 from the Sewer Utility 

Fund, Operating Contingency account #06-7000, for the funds estimated to be expended this 

fiscal year. 

 

Attachments: 

Professional Services Agreement for a Retainer to Furnishing Consulting Engineering Services to 

the City of Millersburg, including Attachment “A” Scope of Work.  



MILLERBURG PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
FOR A RETAINER AGREEMENT TO FURNISH CONSULTANT ENGINEERING SERVICES 

TO THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG, OREGON 

 

ARTICLE I: SCOPE 

For consideration set forth in Article V, the firm of Cardno, Inc., a professional consulting engineering 
firm, hereinafter referred to as ENGINEER, agrees to provide engineering services to the City of 
Millersburg, Oregon, a municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as the CITY, for the development 
and presentation of a Stormwater System Evaluation and Stormwater System Master Plan for the City of 
Millersburg as articulated in Attachment A, Scope of Work. Services provided under this agreement shall 
be authorized in Phases by Notice to Proceed from the City of Millersburg. Unless modified in writing as 
set forth in Article II by the parties hereto, the duties of the ENGINEER and the CITY shall not be 
construed to exceed those services and duties specifically set forth in the individual Phases. 

This is a retainer agreement that establishes standard terms and conditions for work that will be 
authorized by the City of Millersburg in Phases. These phases shall establish the scope of services to be 
provided, compensation for these services and a schedule for completion, as identified in Attachment “A” 

ARTICLE II: MODIFICATIONS 

The CITY or ENGINEER shall not make modifications to the Phases identified in Attachment A or to 
these Standard Terms and Conditions except in writing as Phases are authorized or modified under this 
agreement.  Said modifications shall be agreed to by both parties, with scope of work, schedule, and 
compensation to be negotiated at the time any modification is proposed by either party.  Changes to the 
scope of work that do not meet these requirements shall not be binding, and no further compensation will 
be allowed for any work performed. 

ARTICLE III: RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ENGINEER 

A. Notice to Proceed.  ENGINEER will not begin work on any Phase until the CITY directs in writing to 
proceed.  Authorization to proceed on additional services shall be in the form of a modification as 
defined in Article II. 

B. Level of Competence.  ENGINEER is employed to render professional services and shall be 
responsible, to the level of competence presently maintained by other practicing professional 
engineering firms in good standing and engaged in the same type of professional personal services, 
for the professional and technical adequacy and accuracy of designs, drawings, specifications, 
documents, and other work products furnished under this agreement. 

C. Cost Estimates.  Construction and procurement cost estimates to be prepared under this agreement are 
to be based upon presently available data.  In preparation of these cost estimates, ENGINEER will 
apply its experience and judgment. 

D. Document Preparation.  ENGINEER will prepare and furnish all design, bid, and contract documents 
necessary for City review prior to City bid if these services are specifically identified in the scope of 
services for a particular Task Order. 



E. Record Drawings Preparation.  ENGINEER will prepare a set of record drawings for the project 
which will include the changes made in materials, equipment, locations, and dimensions of the work.  
ENGINEER will provide one full-size set of photo mylar record drawings to the CITY.  Record 
drawing preparation shall only be required if specifically identified in the scope of services for a 
particular Task Order. 

F. Access to Records.  ENGINEER agrees to preserve and maintain for at least three years after final 
payment under this contract, any directly pertinent books, documents, papers, and records generated 
by or provided to ENGINEER in the course of the performance of his duties under the terms of this 
contract.  ENGINEER further agrees that the CITY, or any of its duly authorized representatives, 
shall, during said period, have access to and the right to audit, examine, and reproduce such records 
and further agrees to include the above provision in all subcontracts. 

G. Ownership of Documents.  Upon completion of this agreement, all design, contract, bid, and record 
drawings and documents, including computer disks, shall become the property of the CITY.  The 
CITY will exercise discretion in any re-use of said documents and agrees to hold harmless 
ENGINEER for any application of documents for any purpose other than the originally intended use. 

H. State or Federal Requirements.  ENGINEER covenants and agrees to comply with all of the 
obligations and conditions applicable to public contracts pursuant to ORS 279 Chapters A, B, and C, 
as though each obligation or condition were set forth fully herein.  In addition, if the contract 
identified above calls for a public improvement as that term is defined by ORS 279A.010, 
ENGINEER further agrees to comply with all obligations and conditions applicable to public 
contracts for public improvements pursuant to ORS 279C, et seq, as though each obligation or 
condition were set forth fully herein.  In addition ENGINEER covenants and agrees that in the 
performance of its duties hereunder, it will comply with all other state and federal requirements 
applicable to the City of Albany for projects of the type in question.  

I. Oregon Workers’ Compensation Law.  ENGINEER, its subconsultants, if any, and all employers 
working under this agreement are subject employers under the Oregon Workers’ Compensation Law 
and shall comply with ORS 656.017, which requires them to provide workers’ compensation 
coverage for all their subject workers. 

J. Oregon Identity Theft Protection Act (OITPA).  The Engineer, and its subconsultants, if any, agree to 
comply with the Oregon Identity Theft Protection Act (OITPA), ORS Sections 646A.600 through 
646A.628.  

K. Taxpayer Identification Number.  The Engineer agrees to complete a Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification (W-9 Form) as a condition of the City’s obligation to make 
payment.   In the event the Engineer shall fail to complete and return the W-9 Form to the City, 
payment to Engineer may be delayed, or the City may, in its discretion, terminate the Contract. 

ARTICLE IV: RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CITY 

A. Authorization to Proceed.  The CITY shall authorize ENGINEER in writing to proceed prior to 
ENGINEER starting work on each Phase of the project. 

B. Access to Records, Facilities and Property.  The CITY shall comply with reasonable requests from 
ENGINEER for inspection or access to the CITY’s records, facilities, and properties. 

C. Timely Review.  The CITY shall examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, specifications, 
proposals, and other documents presented by ENGINEER, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance 
counselor, accountant, auditor, and other consultants as CITY deems appropriate for such 
examination and render in writing decisions pertaining thereto in a timely manner so as not to 
unreasonably delay the services of ENGINEER. 



ARTICLE V: COMPENSATION 

CITY agrees to pay for the services identified in individual Phases in accordance with the amount and 
basis of compensation included with each Phase and the compensation provisions in this agreement. 

Payment will be made within 30 days after the receipt of billing for each service rendered during the 
month.  If payment is not made within 30 days, interest on the unpaid balance will accrue beginning on 
the 31st day at the rate of one percent (1%) per month or the maximum interest rate permitted by law, 
whichever is less.  Such interest is due and payable when the overdue payment is made, unless delay in 
payment is due to a contested billing.  CITY has the right to appeal or ask for clarification on any 
ENGINEER billing within 30 days of receipt of billing.  Until said appeal is resolved or clarification is 
accepted, no interest will accrue on that portion of the billing.  In the event of a contested billing, only 
that portion so contested shall be withheld, and the undisputed portion shall be paid in accordance with 
this Article V. 

Notwithstanding anything in this agreement to the contrary, the City’s obligation to pay money beyond 
the current fiscal year shall be subject to and dependent upon appropriations being made from time to 
time by the City Council for such purpose; provided, however, that the City Manager or other officer 
charged with the responsibility for preparing the City’s annual budget shall include in the budget for each 
fiscal year the amount of the City financial obligation payable in such year and the City Manager or such 
other officer shall use his/her best efforts to obtain the annual appropriations required to authorize said 
payments.  

ARTICLE VI: INDEMNIFICATION 

ENGINEER agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the CITY, its agents, officers and employees, 
from and against any and all liability, claims, suits, loss, damages, costs, and expenses arising out of or 
resulting from the negligent acts, errors, or omissions of ENGINEER, its officers, employees, or agents. 

ARTICLE VII:  INSURANCE 

Before the Agreement is executed and work begins, ENGINEER shall furnish the CITY a Certificate of 
Insurance for the coverage and limits set out below, which is to be in force and applicable to the project for 
the duration of the contract.  The issuing insurance companies must have a minimum current A.M. Best 
rating of A-VII or approved by the City.  The Certificate must state that any insurance coverage shown 
cannot be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, or reduced in coverage or limits without 30 days 
prior written notice has been given to the City.   

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance: 

Coverage shall be at least as broad as: 

1. Commercial General Liability:  Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CG 0001 with an edition 
date of 10-2001 or later, providing Commercial General Liability – Occurrence Form.  With 
CG 25 03 (Amendment Aggregate Limits of Insurance per Project) or equivalent attached. 

 2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 0001, providing Business 
Automobile Coverage on owned, non-owned and hired vehicles.  

 3. Workers’ Compensation:  Insurance as required by Oregon Revised Statutes and including 
Employers Liability Insurance. 

 4.   Professional Liability: Insurance on an occurrence or claims made basis with 24 month extended 
reporting period. 

B. Minimum Limits of Insurance: 

ENGINEER shall maintain limits no less than: 



1. Commercial General Liability: $2,000,000 Each Occurrence 
 $2,000,000 Personal Injury 
 $3,000,000 General Aggregate 
 $3,000,000 Products / Completed Operations Aggregate 

The General Aggregate and Products/ Completed Operations Aggregate shall apply separately to 
this project.  

2. Automobile Liability: $2,000,000 Per Occurrence 

3. Employers Liability: $  500,000 Each Accident 
 $  500,000 Disease Aggregate 
 $  500,000 Disease Each Employee 

4. Professional Liability Insurance: $2,000,000 Per incident / Claim 
 $2,000,000 Annual Aggregate  

C. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions: 

Any deductible or self-insured retention must be declared to and approved by the CITY.  At the 
option of the CITY, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductible or self-insured 
retention as respects the CITY, its officers, employees and agents; or the ENGINEER shall procure a 
bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense 
expenses. 

D. Other Insurance Provisions: 

The policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

 1. Additional Insured Clause:  The Commercial General Liability insurance coverage required for 
performance of this contract shall be endorsed to name CITY OF Millersburg and its officers, 
agents, and employees as Additional Insured on any insurance policies required herein with 
respect to ENGINEER’S or any sub-contractor’s activities being performed under the 
Agreement.  The Certificate of Insurance must include a copy of the Additional Insured 
endorsement.  Coverage shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-
insurance. 

2. Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect coverage provided 
to the CITY, its officers, employees, or agents. 

 3. Workers’ Compensation and Employers Liability Coverage:  The insurer shall agree to waive, by 
endorsement, all rights of subrogation against the City of Millersburg, its officers, employees, and 
agents for losses arising from work performed by the ENGINEER for the CITY. 

ARTICLE VIII: ASSIGNMENT 

This agreement is to be binding upon the heirs, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto and is not to 
be assigned by either party without first obtaining the written consent of the other.  No assignment of this 
agreement shall be effective until the assignee assumes in writing the obligations of the assigning party 
and delivers such written assumption to the other original party to this agreement. 

Use of subconsultants by ENGINEER or subsidiary or affiliate firms of ENGINEER for technical or 
professional services shall not be considered an assignment of a portion of this agreement, and 
ENGINEER shall remain fully responsible for the work performed, whether such performance is by 
ENGINEER or subconsultants.  No subconsultants shall be used without the written approval of the City. 

Nothing herein shall be construed to give any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than the CITY 
and ENGINEER. 



ARTICLE IX: INTEGRATION 

These terms and conditions and the agreement to which they are attached represent the entire 
understanding of CITY and ENGINEER as to those matters contained herein.  No prior oral or written 
understanding shall be of any force or effect with respect to those matters covered herein.  The agreement 
may not be modified or altered except in writing as specified in Article II. 

ARTICLE X: SUSPENSION OF WORK 

The CITY may suspend, in writing, and without cause, all or a portion of the work under this agreement.  
ENGINEER may request that the work be suspended by notifying the CITY, in writing, of circumstances 
that are interfering with the progress of work.  The ENGINEER may suspend work on the project in the 
event the CITY does not pay invoices when due.  The time for completion of the work shall be extended 
by the number of days work is suspended.  In the event that the period of suspension exceeds 90 days, the 
terms of the agreement are subject to renegotiation and both parties are granted the option to terminate 
work on the suspended portion of the project, in accordance with Article XI. 

ARTICLE XI: TERMINATION OF WORK 

CITY may terminate all or a portion of the work covered by the agreement for its convenience.  Either 
party may terminate work if the other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the 
provisions of the agreement.  Termination of the agreement is accomplished by 15 days’ prior written 
notice from the party initiating termination to the other.  Notice of termination shall be delivered by 
certified mail with receipt for delivery returned to the sender. 

In the event of termination, ENGINEER shall perform such additional work as is necessary for the 
orderly filing of documents and closing of the project.  The time spent on such additional work shall not 
exceed 10 percent of the time expended on the terminated portion of the project prior to the effective date 
of termination.  ENGINEER shall be compensated for work actually performed prior to the effective date 
of termination plus the work required for filing and closing as described in this Article.  If no notice of 
termination is given, relationships and obligations created by this agreement shall be terminated upon 
completion of all applicable requirements of this agreement. 

ARTICLE XII: FORCE MAJEURE 

Neither the CITY nor ENGINEER shall hold the other responsible for damages or delay in performance 
caused by acts of God, strikes, lockouts, accidents, or any other emergency beyond the parties’ control. 

ARTICLE XIII: DISPUTE COSTS 

In the event either party brings action to enforce the terms of this agreement or to seek damages for its 
breach, or arising out of any dispute concerning the terms and conditions hereby created, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to an award of its reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses, including expert 
witness fees, incurred therein, including such costs and fees as may be required on appeal. 

ARTICLE XIV: CONFLICT AND SEVERABILITY 

In the event of any inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement and the terms listed in any 
additional attachments to this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement shall control.  Any provision of 
this document found to be prohibited by law shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition without 
invalidating the remainder of the document. 

ARTICLE XV: NON-DISCRIMINATION/EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

During the term of this Agreement, the CONTRACTOR agrees as follows:  



The CONTRACTOR will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of 
creed, religion, race, color, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, political ideology, ancestry, national 
origin, or the presence of any sensory, mental or physical handicap, unless based upon a bona fide 
occupational qualification. The CONTRACTOR will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are 
employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their creed, religion, 
race, color, sex, national origin, or the presence of any sensory, mental or physical handicap. Such action 
shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer, 
recruitment or recruitment advertising layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, 
and selection for training, including apprenticeship. 

 ARTICLE XIV: COURT OF JURISDICTION 

The laws of the State of Oregon shall govern the validity of this agreement, its interpretation and 
performance, and other claims related to it.  Venue for litigation shall be in Linn County Circuit Court, 
Oregon. 

CONSULTANT:  CITY OF MILLERSBURG, OREGON: 

Date:   Date:  

By:   By:  

Title:  
  

Kevin Kreitman – City Manager; City of 
Millersburg 

  

By:     

Title:    

Mailing Address:    

    

Telephone No.:     
Fax No.:     
Tax Identification No.:     
 

 

























TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Mark Yeager and Janelle Booth 

DATE: February 13, 2018 

SUBJECT: Phase II Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Stormwater General Permit 

 
Action Requested: 
 
No Council action required.  Staff will provide background information and a status report on the 
recently issued Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) draft Phase II Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4) Stormwater General Permit. 
 
Discussion: 
 
The DEQ has identified Millersburg as one of seven smaller communities in Oregon that will be 
required to obtain a permit to continue to discharge stormwater to waters of the state. In June 
2016, the Millersburg council was briefed on the upcoming MS4 Phase II Permit schedule and 
potential impacts to the City.  At that time, the City considered pursuing a waiver which would 
have exempted Millersburg from the permit.  Through a series of meetings with the DEQ, it was 
determined that due to current population and rate of growth, Millersburg was unlikely to be 
granted a waiver.  Therefore, Millersburg elected to participate in the permit process.  Since that 
time, the DEQ has revised the draft permit and Millersburg has requested that DEQ reconsider the 
waiver and is awaiting a response. 
 
After many years of effort and several previous draft permits, the DEQ issued for public comment 
its latest draft Phase II MS4 Permit on November 27, 2017.  Staff has been reviewing the most 
recent draft documents since issuance and is prepared to provide an update to Council.  To 
provide permit context and background to Council, as well as a status report, this memorandum is 
structured as a series of questions and answers. 
 
Why is Millersburg required to get a stormwater discharge permit?  When the Federal Clean 
Water Act was adopted in 1972, the primary focus of the law was the cleanup of point source 
pollution from industrial wastewater and municipal sewage discharges.  At that time, discharges 
of stormwater were exempted from regulation.  In 1987, the Federal Water Quality Act was 
adopted updating the Clean Water Act and requiring regulation of discharges from MS4’s.  The 
1987 law required the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to adopt rules governing the 
permitting of stormwater discharges from MS4s.  
 
In 1990, the EPA issued the Phase I rule regulating stormwater discharges for municipalities with 
populations greater than 100,000 and for industrial stormwater discharges.  The Phase II 
Stormwater Rule was issued in December 1999 requiring permitting for MS4s serving 
Census-defined urbanized areas with populations greater than 50,000.  The Phase II rule also 
granted authority to permitting agencies, in this case Oregon DEQ, to designate and include other 
communities with populations less than 50,000 in the permitting program after a determination 
that their stormwater discharges cause, or have the potential to cause, an adverse impact on water 
quality. 
 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 2 
February 13, 2018 
 
Following completion of the 2000 Census, the population of Albany’s urbanized area, which 
includes Millersburg, Jefferson, Tangent, Albany and portions of Linn County, was barely under 
50,000 and therefore was not automatically designated for inclusion in the stormwater permitting 
program.  The DEQ did not go through the process at that time to evaluate stormwater discharges 
from the urbanized area and did not make the required determination for inclusion in the 
permitting program.  However, upon conclusion of the 2010 Census, the urbanized area’s 
population exceeded the 50,000-person threshold, and it is now automatically included in the 
required permitting program. 
 
Communities in the Albany urbanized area initially proposed for inclusion in the stormwater 
permitting program were the cities of Jefferson, Tangent, Albany, and Millersburg, as well as 
areas in Linn County within Albany’s urbanized area.  Jefferson and Tangent successfully 
pursued an exemption from stormwater permitting requirements, while Millersburg, Linn County, 
and Albany remain in the program and will be required to apply for a stormwater discharge 
permit. 
 
What is the history of the Phase II MS4 stormwater permit development in Oregon?  
Following adoption of the Phase II rules by EPA in 1999, Oregon DEQ developed and issued, 
mostly in 2007, individual Phase II stormwater permits to ten cities, four counties, and one 
special service district.  By statute, these permits have a five-year duration, and provided that the 
permit holder makes renewal application to DEQ within 180 days prior to the expiration date of 
the permit, the permits are administratively extended until a new permit is issued.  All the existing 
permits in Oregon for the Phase II communities are currently expired and have been 
administratively extended. 
 
Approximately six years ago, the DEQ began the process to develop a revised Phase II 
stormwater permit to be issued to the existing Phase II communities and to the newly designated 
Phase II communities (five cities, including Millersburg, and two counties) following the 
completion of the 2010 Census.  The DEQ made the decision that it was no longer going to issue 
individual permits to these communities because of their concern about the administrative burden 
to the DEQ associated with issuance and management of individual permits.  The DEQ is 
planning to issue one general permit that is applicable to all Phase II communities regardless of 
the size of the community and without consideration of whether the community is new to the 
stormwater permitting program or is a renewing Phase II stormwater community.  The difference 
between a general permit and an individual permit is the DEQ general permit has specific 
compliance requirements that every permitted community will be required to meet regardless of 
size, capability, or any other factor.  Previously, the individual permits had a limited number of 
common requirements for all communities and allowed the permitted community to tailor its 
stormwater program through the development and adoption of their Stormwater Management 
Plan (SWMP). 
 
The DEQ began this permit development process by creating a stakeholder advisory committee, 
holding numerous meetings and listening sessions, and issuing multiple informal and formal 
drafts of a proposed general permit.  Throughout this process, the DEQ and stakeholders have 
been unable to reach a consensus regarding the proper permit format (individual or general 
permit), or the extensive permit requirements.  The DEQ is determined to issue a single general 
permit to all Phase II communities and is now seeking public comment on its latest formal draft 
general permit issued November 27, 2017. 
 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 3 
February 13, 2018 
 
How many communities in Oregon already have stormwater discharge permits?  
Approximately 20 communities are currently covered by Phase I stormwater permits.  Some 
communities are covered under the umbrella of a single entity such as Clean Water Services in 
Hillsboro; others, like Eugene and Salem, have their own individual Phase I permits.  As noted 
previously, there are 15 entities in Oregon currently covered by individual Phase II stormwater 
permits and seven more will be required to apply for coverage under the revised Phase II permit. 
 
What do the Phase II MS4 regulations require?  When the Clean Water Act was amended in 
1987 to include controls and requirements for stormwater, Congress recognized that managing 
stormwater presents very specific and different challenges than managing wastewater.  Because 
the occurrence of stormwater is seasonal and intermittent, and because the frequency and 
intensity of rainfall events vary widely throughout the nation, Congress established a different 
standard for managing stormwater discharges than that required for wastewater discharges. 
 
Wastewater discharge permits are based on requirements to meet specific effluent limits at the 
end of the pipe.  These types of requirements typically include numeric limits and compliance is 
based on laboratory sampling.  Stormwater discharges are not regulated based on these numeric 
limits.  Instead, the Federal stormwater regulations envision that communities will tailor their 
stormwater programs to reduce the discharge of pollutants to the “maximum extent practicable” 
(MEP).  The preamble to the 1999 rule issued by EPA stated, “MS4s need the flexibility to 
optimize reductions in stormwater pollution on a location-by-location basis.” Factors such as, 
“MS4 size, climate, implementation schedules, current ability to finance the program, beneficial 
uses of receiving water, hydrology, geology, and capacity to perform operation and maintenance” 
are to be considered in determining MEP for each community.  To reach MEP, permitted MS4s 
must develop and implement a series of best management practices (BMPs) in six minimum 
control measure areas: 

• Public Education and Outreach on Storm Water Impacts 
• Public Participation/Involvement 
• Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 
• Construction Site Storm Water Runoff Control 
• Post-construction Storm Water Management in New Development and Redevelopment 
• Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping for Municipal Operations 

 
Do the existing Phase I and Phase II permits in Oregon all have the same requirements? All 
existing municipal stormwater permits in Oregon, both Phase I and Phase II, are individual 
permits that have the uniform basic requirements for a limited number of things like reporting and 
record keeping.  All the permits also require each individual community to develop and submit to 
DEQ a Stormwater Management Plan (SWMP) that details what actions that community is going 
to take to reduce stormwater pollution to the MEP within their community.  Through the SWMP, 
each community can design a stormwater program that recognizes the community’s water quality 
priorities and respects the community’s financial and administrative capabilities.  That SWMP is 
publicly reviewed and approved by DEQ and becomes an enforceable portion of the permit.  The 
DEQ has stated that this method of issuing individual permits is too time intensive for DEQ staff.  
In the recently issued draft Phase II MS4 General Permit, DEQ is asserting that it has the 
authority to determine MEP for all Phase II programs and has issued a one-size-fits-all general 
permit, that is very prescriptive, for all Phase II communities.  This approach essentially ignores 
the basic premises of MEP in the 1999 EPA Stormwater Rule. 
 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 4 
February 13, 2018 
 
What is the status of the most recent draft of Phase II MS4 General Permit?  The DEQ 
issued its latest draft of the Phase II MS4 general permit on November 27, 2017.  The public 
comment period began upon issuance of the permit.  A public hearing was held in Eugene on 
Monday, January 29, 2018, with final comments due by 5:00 p.m., February 20, 2018. 
 
What are the summary requirements in the draft Phase II General MS4 Permit?  As 
mentioned previously, the draft Permit is based on DEQ’s determination of MEP for all Phase II 
communities.  It is a one-size-fits-all permit regardless of whether the community has an existing 
stormwater program and permit.  New communities required to get a permit must meet the same 
requirements in the five-year permit term as communities with fully developed programs.  For the 
most part, small communities (less than 10,000 population) must also meet the same 
requirements.  There are major elements of the draft permit that are technically infeasible, many 
requirements are financially burdensome with no water quality benefit, and the basic premises of 
the permit may be subject to legal challenge including the MEP standard, unfunded mandates 
under the Oregon Constitution, home-rule charter principles, and proportionality of development 
requirements. 
 
What is happening now to review and develop comments on the draft permit?  Several 
communities are participating in collaborative efforts currently underway to comment and 
provide feedback to DEQ on the draft permit. Partners in this effort include the League of Oregon 
Cities (LOC), Oregon Special Districts Association (SDAO), and the Oregon Association of 
Clean Water Agencies (ACWA), Association of Oregon Counties (AOC), National Association 
of Clean Water Agencies (NACWA) and the Oregon Homebuilders Association (OHBA).  
 
There are three broad categories of analysis – legal review, technical feasibility, and requirements 
that exceed program development capacity within the five-year permit term.  Several 
communities have partnered with Oregon ACWA to hire legal counsel to conduct a review of the 
draft permit.  Through this review, those portions of the permit that may conflict with state and 
federal law will be identified, and legal arguments against the structure and requirements of the 
draft permit will be developed. The legal concerns include: 
 

• By proposing to issue one general permit for all Phase II permittees, the DEQ is violating 
the principles of MEP as articulated in the EPA stormwater rule;  

• The DEQ is requiring permittees to meet permit conditions that exceed our jurisdictional 
authority (e.g., on-site septic system investigations); 

• By including permit conditions that exceed the federal minimum requirements without 
providing state funding, the DEQ may have created an unfunded mandate as defined in 
the Article XI, section 15 of the Oregon Constitution; 

• DEQ is requiring communities to provide “adequate finances, staff, equipment, and other 
support capabilities” to implement the permit as stipulated by DEQ; 

• The draft permit also contains language the prohibits the discharge of stormwater that 
could “cause or contribute to a violation of a water quality standard as established in 
OAR 340-041.”  Inclusion of this language in the permit effectively prohibits the 
discharge of any stormwater without being in violation of the permit.  

 
A few of the many examples of the technical infeasibility of the draft permit include: 

• The post-construction stormwater program requirements are unclear but seem to include 
a stormwater retention requirement for all new development or redevelopment activity 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 5 
February 13, 2018 
 

creating 5,000 square feet or more of new impervious area.  For many reasons, the 
implementation of the proposed post-construction stormwater program is not feasible.  
Staff has concerns about overall development costs and program complexities that may 
result in some currently developable properties being unable to develop if the permit 
requirements remain as written; 

• The on-site septic system investigation requirements of the draft permit will require 
municipal employees to gain access to private property to determine whether private 
septic systems are in good working order; 

• For construction site stormwater runoff control, a requirement to “provide an opportunity 
for the public to submit information about whether the site plan under construction 
demonstrates compliance with the ordinance or other regulatory mechanism required.”  
This will create a direct conflict with timelines for building permit issuance stipulated in 
ORS 455.467. 

 
 
What is the estimated cost to comply with the draft stormwater permit?  Millersburg is 
currently implementing two of the six stormwater control measures to a limited extent as a result 
of requirements issued by DEQ in the Willamette Basin TMDL.  For instance, Millersburg 
requires some limited construction site runoff control, as well as some elements of pollution 
prevention/good housekeeping activities.  Expansion of existing programs and implementation 
the newly required stormwater permit programs described in the current draft Phase II permit 
within the five-year permit term will place a financial burden on the residents of Millersburg.  
 
Actual costs to Millersburg for implementation of these programs have not yet been determined.  
First-year costs will be greater due to startup of the permit program. 
 
What is the bottom line?  The draft Phase II MS4 Stormwater Permit represents a significant 
departure from previously issued stormwater permits in Oregon.  As mentioned above, there are 
many concerns about the draft permit and the DEQ’s approach.  If Millersburg were to apply for 
and accept the draft permit as proposed, the City would be immediately at risk for permit 
violations and could be subject to enforcement by DEQ or by third-party litigants.  The Clean 
Water Act allows third parties to sue to ensure enforcement of permit requirements. 
 
As mentioned previously, Millersburg is pursuing the possibility of a waiver which will exempt 
the City from this permit and is working with other communities, Oregon ACWA, and other 
organizations such as the League of Oregon Cities to develop comments on the draft permit.  
Once public comments have been submitted (due February 20), the DEQ plans to review the 
comments, respond to the comments as they deem appropriate, and issue a revised draft permit.  
It is not clear whether the DEQ will allow another formal public comment period on the next 
version of the permit.  Staff will return to Council as the process develops to provide updates on 
the permit development process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, City Engineer 

DATE: February 13, 2018 

SUBJECT: Updating Public Street Improvement Fees 

 
Action Requested:   
Approval of attached resolution updating City of Millersburg Public Street Improvement Fees.   

Discussion:   
In 2006, Millersburg adopted Resolution No. 2006-3, which authorized the City to postpone 
offsite roadway improvements associated with a development and instead charge a fee to be 
applied to future improvements.  Over time, the fee has been adjusted based on construction 
costs.  The last update to the fee was in 2011 following the Alexander Lane Improvements and 
was set at $350/linear foot (lf) for full street improvements and $175/lf for half street 
improvements. 

In 2017, 960 linear feet of full street improvements were constructed on the north end of Woods 
Road.  The project was conducted by a developer who owed half street improvements for 
developments on both sides of this portion of Woods Road.  The City contributed to the costs for 
320 feet of frontage along the cemetery on the west side of Woods Road. 

The full street improvements consisted of: 

• 2 - 12’ asphalt paved travel lanes 
• 2 - 6’ paved bicycle lanes 
• Concrete curb and gutter 
• 5’ wide concrete sidewalks 
• ADA ramps at intersection 
• Storm drainage 
• Street lighting 
• Striping and signage 
• Erosion protection 

This road section is consistent with both the “Two-Lane Arterial” and the “Collector-Residential 
with No Parking” sections as defined in the City of Millersburg Transportation System Plan. 

The total project construction cost was $338,920.  Additional project costs were added for 
engineering and survey, Pacific Power installation of street lights, and BOLI wage rates.  Because 
the project was constructed by a private developer, BOLI wage rates did not apply.  To align the 
costs with what would have been actual costs to the City for construction of the project, an 
approximate 13% increase was added to the total project cost.   The estimated total cost of the 
project, including BOLI wage rates, is $412,059. 

Dividing the total project cost by the length of roadway yields a cost of $429.23/ft for full street 
improvements, or $214.61/ft for half street improvements. 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that Millersburg’s Public Street Improvement Fee be updated to $430/ft for 
full street improvements and $215/ft for half street improvements for two-lane arterials and 



Millersburg City Council 
Page 2 
January 17, 2018 
 
 
collectors.  Fees for other street sections, if required, should be adjusted based upon curb-to-curb 
pavement width.  It is also recommended that the fees be increased annually based on the 
Engineering News Record (ENR) published construction cost index (Seattle). 

Budget Impact: 
Adoption of the attached resolution addresses situations where the City of Millersburg is not 
collecting sufficient street improvement fees to cover the cost of future street improvements. 
 
Attachments: 
Calculation of fees 
Resolution 
Woods Road Costs 



Costs for Woods Road full street improvements 2017
Street Improvements

Full street improvements length 960 feet ∙        2 ‐ 12’ asphalt paved travel lanes
∙        2 ‐ 6’ paved bicycle lanes

original MVG contract price $332,167 ∙        Concrete curb and gutter
change order $19,800 street light conduits ∙        5’ wide concrete sidewalks

total construction cost $351,967 ∙        ADA ramps at intersection
∙        Storm drainage

Subtractions for things not included in a typical full street improvement project ∙        Street lighting
changes to exst drainage at intersection $7,700 ∙        Striping and signage

cemetery driveways/gravel $5,347 ∙        Erosion protection
total cost less subtractions $338,920

additional costs
engineering and surveying services $20,000
street light costs from Pacific Power $9,171

increase for BOLI $43,968
$45.80 per lf full street based on cost difference 
between BOLI and non‐BOLI ‐ 13% increase

Total Project Cost $412,059

full street cost per lineal foot $429.23
half street cost per lineal foot $214.61



RESOLUTION NO. 2018- _____ 
 

A RESOLUTION UPDATING PUBLIC STREET IMPROVEMENT FEES 
 

WHEREAS, occasionally offsite roadway improvements associated with a development 
are postponed and a public street improvement fee is charged which is applied to future 
improvements; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg intends to align the public street improvement fees 
charged to the actual costs of completion of the postponed roadway improvements; and, 
 
WHEREAS, costs associated with these public street improvements continue to increase; 
and, 
 
WHEREAS, the public street improvement fees charged by the City of Millersburg must 
increase to accurately reflect these increased costs associated with these public street 
improvements; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg can maintain current and accurate public street 
improvement fees associated with actual costs of public street improvement completion by 
annually increasing the public street improvement fees based upon the Engineering News 
Record (ENR) published construction cost index (Seattle); and, 
 
WHEREAS, the most recent actual costs associated with a public street improvement in 
Millersburg is $430/ft for full street improvements and $215/ft for half street 
improvements for two-lane arterials and collector streets; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MILLERSBURG that the City of Millersburg’s public street improvement fee shall be 
$430/ft for full street improvements and $215/ft for half street improvements for two-lane 
arterials and collector streets, and beginning January 1, 2019, and each subsequent January 
1, the City of Millersburg shall increase Public Street Improvement fees based upon the the 
Engineering News Record (ENR) published construction cost index (Seattle); 
 
 
DATED THIS 13th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018.  
 
 
____________________________ 
Jim Lepin, Mayor 
City of Millersburg, Oregon 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Wollenburg 
City Recorder 



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, City Engineer 

DATE: February 6, 2018 

SUBJECT: Private Construction of Public Infrastructure Permitting Process 

 
Action Requested:   
Approval of attached code language and resolution implementing Private Construction of Public 
Infrastructure (PCPI) permitting process.   

Discussion:   
Millersburg currently has no formal process for permitting private development of public 
infrastructure (streets, water, sewer, storm drainage).  This type of work is constructed in every 
new subdivision and may be associated with some partitions.  Although Millersburg contract staff 
has been providing plan review and construction inspection services for these projects, 
Millersburg has no formal procedures in place for tracking this work and charges no fees for plan 
review or construction inspection.   

Under the current Intergovernmental Agreements (IGAs) between the City of Millersburg and the 
City of Albany, the City of Albany has been providing plan review and inspection for public 
water and sewer within the City of Millersburg through its System Improvements (SI) process.  
As a part of the SI process, developers are currently required to obtain a permit from the City of 
Albany and pay City of Albany permit fees. 

The proposed permitting process would require all projects in Millersburg to be permitted 
through Millersburg and permit fees would be collected by Millersburg.  The permit fees charged 
will be structured similarly to the fees Albany is currently charging.  This will simplify the 
process for all parties, including developers, engineers, contractors, the City of Millersburg, and 
the City of Albany.  Millersburg may continue to contract with Albany to provide some 
construction inspection services in Millersburg due to limited Millersburg staff resources through 
our intergovernmental agreements (IGA’s).  Millersburg will handle the permit process, including 
scheduling review and inspection services as required. 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that Millersburg adopt the proposed code language and resolution to 
implement the Private Construction of Public Infrastructure (PCPI) process.  The proposed fees 
are based on a percentage of estimated construction value, so will not need to be increased 
regularly to keep up with increased costs to the City. 

Budget Impact: 
Adoption of the attached code language and resolution will allow the City of Millersburg to 
collect fees which cover the City’s costs for managing the PCPI process, engineering plan review, 
and construction inspection. 
 
Attachments: 
Ordinance Adopting Code language 
Resolution 



ORDINANCE NO. 2018-____ 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A PERMITTING PROCESS AND 
ACCOMPANYING FEES FOR PRIVATE CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC 

IMPROVEMEMNTS 
 
WHEREAS, private construction of public improvements occurs in the City of 
Millersburg; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg requires permitting and accompanying fees for 
private construction of public improvements; and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF MILLERSBURG DO ORDAIN 
AS FOLLOWS:  The City of Millersburg adopts attached “Exhibit A” as the permitting 
process and accompanying fees for private construction of public improvements. 
 
This Ordinance becomes effective 30 days from date of passage. 

PASSED by the Council and approved by the Mayor this 13th day of February, 2018. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Jim Lepin, Mayor 
City of Millersburg, Oregon 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Wollenburg 
City Recorder 



Attachment A 
 

PRIVATE CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 
Sections: 
1.  Definitions. 
2.             Permit required. 
3.             Approval of drawings and specifications required. 
4.             Drawing review application and fee. 
5.             Drawing submittal and public improvement standards. 
6.  Permit issuance. 
7.  Permit duration. 
8.             Fees. 
9.    Performance and payment guarantee. 
10.           Warranty guarantee. 
11.  Preconstruction conference. 
12.           Notice before beginning work. 
13.  Working hours and overtime costs. 
14.           Construction in accordance with permit conditions. 
15.  Testing. 
16.  Suspension of permit - Stop work order. 
17.  Penalties. 
18.           City acceptance of the public improvement. 

 
1. Definitions 

For the purposes of this chapter, the words set out in this section shall have the following meanings: 
(1) "Acceptance" means written acknowledgment by the City of Millersburg that the public improvement 

has been completed in accordance with the drawings, specifications, and permit conditions, as 
approved; that the City of Millersburg has received and approved record drawings and warranty 
guarantee; and that all required right-of-way and easements have been approved and dedicated. 
The date of acceptance is the initial day of the warranty period. 

(2) "City" means the City of Millersburg, Oregon. 
(3) "City Engineer'' means the City Engineer of the City of Millersburg. 
(4) "Private engineer'' means a professional engineer (or engineering firm), registered by the State of 

Oregon, who designs the public improvement for City approval. 
(5) "Public improvement" means a facility to be privately constructed, to be owned by the City of 

Millersburg, and to be located within public right-of-way or easement, more specifically including 
but not limited to the following: 

Water mains, valves, fittings, fire hydrants, etc.; 
Water service lines (upstream from the water meter), water meters, and appurtenant valves, 
fittings, etc.; 
Water reservoirs; 
Sanitary sewer mains, manholes, and sewer service laterals; 
Pumping stations or pumping facilities; 
Streets, roadways, 
and alleys; Bikeways, 
and bridges; and 
Drainage piping, inlets, manholes, and detention facilities. 

(6) "Owner/developer'' means the person or entity in which record title to the property proposed for 
development is held or the duly authorized agent therefor, and shall be the applicant for review of 
the construction drawing and specifications, and shall be the applicant for the permit to construct 
public facilities. · 

(7) "Contractor" means a person or entity licensed, bonded and insured in accordance with state and 
local requirements to install or perform work on public municipal facilities in Oregon, who has been 
retained by the owner to construct the public improvements as shown on the approved plans and 
specifications. 

(8) “City of Millersburg Standard Construction Specifications” means City of Albany Standard 
Construction Specifications, which have been adopted by the City of Millersburg. 

Facilities constructed under public contract with the City of Millersburg are not public 
improvements for the purposes of this chapter.  

  



 

 
   2.      Permit required 

Excepting persons under contract with the City of Millersburg or employees of the City performing work 
for the City, no person shall begin to construct or otherwise perform any work on a public improvement, 
as defined herein, without obtaining a permit to construct public facilities, and complying with the 
provisions of this chapter and all permit conditions.  

 
3. Approval of drawings and specifications required 
Construction drawings and specifications for public improvements shall be submitted to the City for 
drawing review and approval. Written approval, on the drawings, of the City Engineer or his/her 
designated representative is required prior to issuance of the permit. 
(1) Drawings and specifications submitted for approval shall be subject to the standards, specifications, 

policies and procedures, and drawing review fees of the City in effect at the time of application or 
reapplication for drawing review. Additionally, said drawings shall be consistent with the City's 
facility plan for the type of facility being constructed. 

(2) Unless specifically waived in writing by the City Engineer, all drawings and specifications must be 
stamped by a registered professional engineer  

(3) Drawing and specification approval shall be void upon expiration of one year from the date of written 
approval. Drawing approval extensions may be granted by the City for a maximum of two extensions of 
one year (or portions thereof) each upon the finding by the City Engineer that the facts upon which the 
approval was based have not changed to an extent sufficient to require resubmittal of drawings for review. 

(4) Only those drawings marked with the written approval of the City Engineer are valid for the purposes 
and requirements of this chapter.  
 

4.    Drawing review application and fee 
An application for drawing review is required and shall be accompanied by a drawing review fee. The 
application shall include an itemized construction estimate and such other information as may be 
required by the City Engineer. The construction estimate shall meet the approval of the City Engineer or 
his/her authorized representative. Unapproved drawings returned to the private engineer may be 
resubmitted a maximum of two additional times before a second (new) drawing review fee is charged.  
 
5.   Drawing submittal and public improvement standards 
The City Engineer is authorized to develop application procedures for the submittal of drawings and 
specifications for approval, and standards for the form and content of drawings and specifications. The 
City Engineer is additionally authorized to develop design standards, construction standards, and 
testing procedures for proposed public improvements. In the case where drawings are submitted for 
public improvements for which no standards have been developed,  the  submittal  and·  design  shall  
meet  the approval of the City Engineer. In making such approval, the City Engineer shall consider the 
future operation and maintenance of the facility, and sound engineering principles and practice.  

 
6. Permit issuance 
Issuance of a permit to construct public facilities shall be subject to all of the following: 
(1) Approval of the plans and specifications as specified in this chapter. 
(2) Payment of a permit fee as established in Section 8 herein. 
(3) Submittal of evidence of public liability and property damage insurance in the amounts listed in the 

City of Millersburg Standard Construction Specifications. This insurance shall cover the contractor, 
all subcontractors, and the City of Millersburg and its employees. 

(4) Dedication of all needed rights-of-way and easements, as determined by the City Engineer. The City 
may delay acceptance and recording of the dedications until the construction is completed. 

(5) Submittal of a signed contract with a private engineer to provide construction (including survey and staking 
where appropriate) and inspection services on the project, and to provide reproducible record drawings (as-
builts) of the completed improvements. 
(6) Submittal of a performance and payment guarantee as specified in Section 9. 
(7) Submittal of a warranty guarantee as specified in Section 10. 
(8) Submittal of evidence that all contractors are licensed by the State of Oregon. 
(9) Compliance with the City of Millersburg Standard Construction Specifications, except as specifically 

amended by the conditions of permit issuance or this chapter. 
(10) The applicant's signature on the permit form constituting acknowledgment of and agreement to abide 

by all conditions of permit approval. 
(11) The requirement that the permittee maintain an approved permit, including drawings, on the 

construction site for the entire period of construction. 
The applicant is responsible for providing or otherwise complying with all items listed in this section  

 



7. Permit duration 
An issued permit is valid for one year. A permit extension may be granted by the City for a maximum of 
two extensions of one year (or portions thereof), upon the submittal of documentation by the permittee and 
finding by the City Engineer that the conditions beyond the control of the permittee have created a 
condition whereby the work could not be completed within the time frame of permit validity and that the 
facts upon which the permit issuance was based have not changed to an extent sufficient to require 
resubmittal of permit application.  

 
8. Fees 

Permit fees shall be charged to offset City costs. The fees for water, sewer, street, and storm drain 
projects shall be credited to the City's water, sewer, street, and storm drain funds respectively. Fees for 
other projects shall be credited to the general fund. 
(1) The itemized estimated construction cost used to calculate the permit fee shall be developed by the 

private engineer based upon the approved plans. The itemized estimated construction cost shall be 
comparable with current bid prices for City contract projects and must meet the approval of the City 
Engineer. 

(2) Drawing & Specification Review--$100 fixed fee, plus 0.6% of estimated construction cost. 
(3) Private Construction of Public Improvement Permit--$100 fixed fee, plus 3.5% of construction cost. 

 
9.  Performance and payment guarantee 

A performance and payment guarantee in the amount of 100 percent of the approved estimated cost of 
construction shall be provided to the City prior to issuance of the permit. The performance and payment 
guarantee shall ensure completion of the work in conformance with the approved drawings and 
specifications and payment of all bills and liabilities for work and materials, including the preparation of 
record drawings. The performance and payment guarantee shall be one of the following: 
(1) A performance and payment bond referencing the approved drawings, specifications and permit 

requirements; or 
(2) Written evidence in a form and of a content approved in writing by the City Attorney guaranteeing 

completion of the work to the City in conformance with the approved drawings, specifications, and 
other permit provisions, and payment of all billings and liabilities for work and materials, including the 
preparation of record drawings. The period of validity of the guarantee shall be for the duration of 
construction until written acceptance of the public improvement by the City.  
 

         10.   Warranty guarantee 
The owner/developer and contractor shall stipulate, on a form provided by the City, that 100 percent of 
the work performed in relation to the project shall be warranted and that a warranty guarantee shall be 
provided during the one-year warranty period as defined in the City of Millersburg Standard Construction 
Specifications. The warranty guarantee shall insure prompt corrective work on all or any part of the public 
facility which requires repair, reconstruction, or replacement (at the option of the City), or which does not 
continue to meet the requirements of the City of Millersburg Standard Construction Specifications during the 
one-year warranty period. The one-year warranty period shall begin at the time of written acceptance of the 
public facility by the City and shall continue for an additional year following City acceptance of any warranty 
repair. The warranty guarantee for the 100 percent warranty shall reference the approved plans, 
specifications, and permit requirements, and the warranty period beginning at the time of written acceptance 
by the City. The warranty guarantee shall be one of the following: 
(1) A 100  percent warranty guarantee incorporated with the payment and performance guarantee. 
(2) A warranty maintenance bond in the amount of 10 percent of the approved estimated cost of · 

construction, or the actual final construction cost if it exceeds the original estimated amount. 
(3) Written evidence in a form and of a content approved in writing by the City Attorney guaranteeing 

repair, reconstruction, or replacement of all or any part of the public facilities (at the option of the City) 
during the warranty period beginning at the time of written acceptance of the public facility by the City 
and providing monetary assurance therefor. 

 
If at any time the provided warranty guarantee is insufficient to cover the required warranty work, the City 
will be entitled to the necessary additional funds from the owner/developer 30 days following written 
demand. If the additional funds are not received by the City within 30 calendar days of written request, the 
City may file an action at law for the collection of the additional amounts plus all attorney fees and legal 
costs.  

 
11.   Preconstruction conference 
Prior to construction, the permittee shall conduct a preconstruction conference to discuss the schedule, 
coordination, and specifics of the project. The private engineer and the contractor shall attend the 
preconstruction conference. In addition, representatives of the City and affected utilities shall be given an 
opportunity to attend. The requirement for a preconstruction conference may be waived in writing by the City 
Engineer.  

  



 

 
12.   Notice before beginning work 

Written notice of at least two full working days, exclusive of weekends, after the preconstruction conference 
shall be given to the City by the permittee of the time that work is to begin. In the event of a temporary 
cessation of work activities, two full working days’ notice shall be given again before the resumption of any 
additional work.  

 
13.   Working hours and overtime costs 

Except as approved by the City in writing, construction activities shall be limited to the daytime, 7:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. If it is necessary to perform construction work on Saturdays, 
Sundays, City holidays, or outside the eight-hour regular working day, City approval is required a minimum of 
two full working days, exclusive of weekends, prior to such work. Any costs, including inspection overtime 
and benefit costs, incurred by the City due to such work shall be fully paid to the City prior to acceptance of 
the work. Said costs are in addition to any other permit or inspection fees specified in this chapter.  

 
14.    Construction in accordance with permit conditions 
All construction of public facilities shall be performed in accordance with the approved plans, specifications, 
and other requirements and conditions of a permit to construct public facilities. Any deviations shall require 
written approval of the City Engineer or his/her authorized representative.  

 
15.  Testing 
Certification and testing of products, materials, compaction, and work shall be performed in accordance with 
the procedures and standards referenced in Section 5 of this chapter, and the City of Millersburg Standard 
Construction Specifications. All costs for testing and certification, including compaction testing, shall be the 
responsibility of the permittee. These costs are not included in any permit or inspection fees listed elsewhere 
in this chapter.  

16.      Suspension of permit- Stop work order 
(1) At any time after the issuance of a permit required by this chapter, the City Engineer may suspend 

the same upon a finding that any of the following grounds exist: 
a. False, misleading, or erroneous data or information submitted in connection with securing the 

permit; or 
b. Materials, workmanship, installation, work, or conditions which do not meet the requirements of the 

approved plans, specifications, permit requirements and conditions; or 
c. Any contractor performing or proposed to perform work is not licensed by the State of Oregon; or 
d. Violation of any of the provisions of this code governing the work being done under the permit. 

(2) Upon suspension of a permit as provided in subsection (1) of this section, the City Engineer shall 
cause to be issued a written "stop work order'', one copy of which shall be sent by regular mail to the 
permittee at the address shown on the permit application, one copy of which shall be sent by regular 
mail to the permittee's engineer overseeing the work, and one copy of which shall be delivered to the 
contractor (or the contractor's employee). 

(3) It shall be unlawful for any person to cause, suffer, or permit any work to be done for which a permit 
(4) is required by this chapter when a "stop work order" has been issued as provided in subsection (2) of 

this section, or when a permit has expired, or prior to permit issuance. 

 
17.    Penalties 

In addition to the penalties for an infraction as set forth within the Millersburg City Code, permittees, 
private engineers, and contractors who violate the permit conditions or the provisions of this chapter may 
be denied future permits or prohibited from designing or constructing future public improvements within 
the City. Said denial or prohibition shall be made in writing by the City Engineer, and shall remain in effect 
for one year.  

 
18.    City acceptance of the public improvement 
Once completed in accordance with the approved plans, specifications, and permit requirements and 
conditions, the City shall accept the public improvement provided: 
(1) The City has received and approved reproducible record drawings referenced in Section 5; and 
(2) All required rights-of-way and easements have been approved and dedicated; and 
(3) The warranty guarantee specified in Section 10 of this chapter is provided and approved; and 
(4) The City is paid for any costs due to overtime, weekend, or holiday inspection. 
Acceptance of public improvements shall be made in writing by the City Engineer.  

 



 

  
17.    Penalties 

In addition to the penalties for an infraction as set forth within the Millersburg City Code, permittees, 
private engineers, and contractors who violate the permit conditions or the provisions of this chapter may 
be denied future permits or prohibited from designing or constructing future public improvements within 
the City. Said denial or prohibition shall be made in writing by the City Engineer, and shall remain in effect 
for one year.  

 
18.    City acceptance of the public improvement 
Once completed in accordance with the approved plans, specifications, and permit requirements and 
conditions, the City shall accept the public improvement provided: 
(1) The City has received and approved reproducible record drawings referenced in Section 5; and 
(2) All required rights-of-way and easements have been approved and dedicated; and 
(3) The warranty guarantee specified in Section 10 of this chapter is provided and approved; and 
(4) The City is paid for any costs due to overtime, weekend, or holiday inspection. 
Acceptance of public improvements shall be made in writing by the City Engineer.  

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2018- _____ 
 
 

A RESOLUTION REPEALING RESOLUTION 2017-16 AND ESTABLISHING A 
PERMITTING PROCESS AND ACCOMPANYING FEES FOR PRIVATE 

CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 

WHEREAS, private construction of public improvements occurs in the City of 
Millersburg; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg requires permitting and accompanying fees for 
private construction of public improvements; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Resolution 2017-16 is not necessary with adoption of this Resolution; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
MILLERSBURG that the City of Millersburg repeals Resolution 2017-16. 
 
 
DATED THIS 13th DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018.  
 
 
____________________________ 
Jim Lepin, Mayor 
City of Millersburg, Oregon 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly Wollenburg 
City Recorder 



TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

DATE: February 6, 2018, for the February 13, 2018 Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Proposed City Charter Amendment 

 
Action Requested:  
Council discussion and feedback on proposed Charter Amendment. 
 
Discussion:    
The City of Millersburg in the past has had the City Recorder and Deputy City Recorder as 
signatory signers on the City banking accounts and last year with the appointment of the City 
Manager, that position was also added as a signer to the accounts.  This has most recently been 
accomplished by City Council Resolutions.  In researching the practice of staff being signers, it 
appears to have been occurring since the early 1980’s. 
 
However, in review of our City Charter - Section 22 Drafts and Warrants-Signatures; states the 
following: 
 
“All drafts and warrants upon funds of the city shall be signed by the mayor and president of the 
council, and in the absence of either one of these persons, by a council member designated by the 

mayor or president of the council, whichever one is present.” 
 

In discussion with the Mayor, he has asked that proposed language be provided to the City 
Council for consideration of a Charter Amendment to allow the City Council by Resolution to 
identify authorized signers for the City’s banking accounts. 
 
Attached you will find proposed language provide by the City Attorney for Council 
consideration.  Should the Council provide direction to move forward with a proposed City 
Charter Amendment, notice would be posted in two public places, published in the Albany 
Democrat Herald for three consecutive weeks, and have two public hearings prior to passage. The 
two public hearings would be schedule at a specific time during two City Council meetings.  
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends Council review the attached proposed language from the City Attorney and 
provide direction to staff. 
 
 
Attachment: 
Proposed City Charter Amendment Language 



Notice is hereby given that the Millersburg City Council may amend Section 22 of the 
Millersburg City Charter. 
 
The current Section 22 reads as follows: 
 

“All drafts and warrants upon the funds of the city shall be signed by the mayor 
and the president of the council, and in the absence of either one of these persons, by a 
council member designated by the mayor or president of the council, whichever one is 
present.” 

 
 

The proposed amended Section 22 would read as follows: 
 

“All drafts and warrants upon the funds of the city shall be signed by city staff, 
and/or city officers, and/or city agents, as designated by Council Resolution.” 



TO: Millersburg City Council 

VIA: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

FROM: Janelle Booth, City Engineer 

DATE: February 5, 2018 

SUBJECT: CH2M On-Call Engineering Services Contract Amendment 7 

 
Action Requested:   
Approval of proposed contract amendment for CH2M Hill Engineers, Inc. Contract for 
Professional Services (Amendment 7).   

Discussion:   
In June of 2016, Millersburg approved an amendment to the CH2M Professional Services 
contract which extended the contract to an end date of June 2019 with a total amount not-to-
exceed of $100,000 per fiscal year (Amendment 3).   

Fiscal year 2016-2017:  In December 2016, an amendment to increase the not-to-exceed amount 
to $150,000 for fiscal year 2016-2017 was approved (Amendment 4) and in February 2017, an 
amendment to increase the not-to-exceed amount to $250,000 for fiscal year 2016-2017 was 
approved (Amendment 5). 

The reason contract amendments were necessary in fiscal year 2016-2017 was the amount of 
ongoing engineering work to support the high rate of development in the City, addressing new 
and existing regulatory requirements, and ongoing support of Millersburg’s utility systems. 

Fiscal year 2017-2018:  In June 2017, the not-to-exceed amount was reset at $100,000 for the 
new fiscal year.  At the end of December 2017, the not-to-exceed amount of $100,000 for on-call 
services had been expended. 

Due to the continued high rate of development, regulatory requirements, and ongoing support of 
the City’s infrastructure, it is recommended that the proposed contract amendment be approved to 
continue ongoing engineering support for the City.  The reorganization approved by Council at 
your last meeting has resulted in staffing changes which will allow Millersburg to perform much 
of this engineering work in-house in the future.   There will still be a need for consulting services 
for capital improvements, infrastructure projects, and studies.  However, it is not anticipated that 
future on-call contract amendments will be required to increase the not-to-exceed amount as has 
been required this year, due to growth associated with new development, because the majority of 
that function will be handled in-house going forward. 

Budget Impact: 
Approval of the attached contract amendment authorizes up to an additional $75,000 for 
engineering services for the remainder of fiscal year 2017-2018.  The increase in fees is offset by 
increased development fees received. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends Council approval authorizing the Mayor and City Manager to sign Contract 
Amendment 7 with CH2M. 
 
 
Attachment: 
Contract Amendment 7 



AMENDMENT 7 
CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 

 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the following parties: 
 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG, (City), 4222 NE Old Salem Road, Albany, Oregon, 97321; and, 
 
CH2M HILL Engineers, Inc. (Contractor), 1000 NE Circle Blvd., Corvallis, Oregon 97330, a Delaware 
corporation, whose Federal Employer Identification Number is 32-0100027. 
 
 
1. Contract Amendment:  This amendment revises the Contract for Professional Services signed July 

23, 2014, amended June 12, 2015, March 2, 2016, June 3, 2016, December 19, 2016, and February 
16, 2017 to a total amount not to exceed of $175,000 between June 1, 2017 and June 1, 2018.   

2. All other terms and conditions of the original contract apply. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed in    
duplicate by the duly authorized persons whose signatures appear below. Each party, by the 
signature below of its authorized representative, hereby acknowledges that it has read this 
agreement, understands it, and agrees to be bound by its terms and conditions. Each person signing 
this agreement represents and warrants to have the authority to execute this agreement. 

 

CH2M HILL Engineers, Inc.  CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
 

   

 

CH2M HILL authorized signer  Honorable Jim Lepin,  
Mayor 
 
 
 

Date  Date 
   

   

 

  Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

   

 

  Date 
 



TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, Interim City Manager 

DATE: February 13, 2018 Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Professional Service Agreement Amendment with Operations Management 
International (CH2M Hill) 

 
Action Requested:  
Approval to sign an amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Operations 
Management International, to provide Millersburg with an Oregon certified Level 1 Distribution 
Responsible Charge (DRC). 
 
Discussion:    
The City of Millersburg as a provider of water distribution is required by law to provide a person 
who will act as DRC for our water infrastructure and to oversee our sampling plan and other 
regulatory requirements.  The City of Millersburg entered into contract with OMI January 1, 
2017, for this service.  The initial term of agreement was for a one (1) year period which upon 
conclusion of the initial term would continue on a month to month basis. 
 
OMI has provided and amendment to the original agreement for a new one (1) year period with 
provision for renewal for two (2) year periods if approved by the both parties in writing. They are 
also proposing adding a new Article 2.3 with regard to interconnection of our agreement and the 
City of Lebanon agreement, stating that if the City of Lebanon agreement should terminate for 
any reason, our agreement may be terminated at the same time; and that the City may continue 
service if that agreement is terminated upon re-negotiation of the fee. 
 
The final item of the amendment is and update of the monthly base fee for services to $634.41 in 
Appendix B, 1.1 from the previous monthly rate of $625.00.   
 
Budget Impact: 
Annual increase of the base monthly fee for service of, $112.92. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends Council approval and authorization of the City Manager to sign Amendment 
NO. 1; to the Professional Services Agreement with OMI. 
 
Attachment: 
Amendment #1 Professional Services Agreement with OMI 





TO: Millersburg City Council 

FROM: Kevin Kreitman, City Manager 

DATE: February 13, 2018 Council Meeting 

SUBJECT: Approval of Resolution for Remittance of Construction Excise Tax to Greater Albany 
Public Schools. 

 
Action Requested:  
Approval to the attached Resolution for payment of past due Construction Excise Tax to Greater 
Albany Public Schools. 
 
Discussion:    
The City entered into an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Greater Albany Public 
Schools (GAPS) in 2008 for the collection and remittance of Construction Excise Tax, at the time 
of building permit issuance by the City.  Remittance to GAPS is to occur one month following the 
end of quarters March 31st, June 30th, September 30th and December 31st.  As part of the 
agreement the City retains administrative fees of one (1) percent.   
 
Staff recently became aware that remittance of the collected tax has not occurred since February 
1, 2017.  Staff has reviewed the remittance owed for the remainder of fiscal year 2016-2017 and 
determined that $131,954.00 was due to GAPS for fees collected; additionally GAPS is currently 
due $229,168.00 for fees collected July 1, through December 31, 2018, for a total due of 
$361,122.00. 
 
The 2017-2018 budget for the Construction Excise Tax is $220,000.00, The fees collected 
through December 31st of this fiscal year already exceed the budget year total estimated for this 
fiscal year.  It should be noted this is primarily a pass through account for the City with revenue 
received by the City being remitted to GAPS quarterly minus the one (1) percent administrative 
fee. 
 
Staff is estimating that, based on the fees collected through December 31st, we could potentially 
see an additional $260,000.00 received by the City in Construction Excise Tax and are thus 
requesting a $400,000.00 transfer of funds from General Fund Operating Contingency to the 
School Excise Tax expense account, for a total School Excise Tax account of $620,000.00 for the 
2017-2018 Budget; this would cover the fees not transferred from the 2016-2017 Budget and the 
estimated potential fiscal year 2017-2018 collected Construction Excise Taxes which would 
require remittance to GAPS. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends Council authorization and adoption of the attached Resolution. 



RESOLUTION # 2018- 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A TRANSFER AND APPRORIATON FOR 
PAYMENT OF PAST DUE CONSTRUCTION EXCISE TAX TO GREATER 

ALBANY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Millersburg (City) enters into an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with 
the Greater Albany Public Schools (GAPS) to Collect and Remit Construction Excise Tax (Tax); 
and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City collects said Tax at time of building permit issuance; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the IGA calls for remittance of funds collected one month following the quarterly end; 
and,  
 
WHEREAS, payments are due one month after quarterly end of March 31st, June 30th, September 
30th and December 31st; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the City has become aware that remittance of said collected funds has not occurred 
since April 3, 2017 for funds collected June 1, 2016 through February 1, 2017; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the City needs to make remittance of funds collected for the period of February 1, 
2017 through December 31, 2017, which totals $361,122.79; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s 2017-2018 Budget does not account for the non-remitted funds from the 
2016-2017 Budget; and, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Millersburg City Council that the transfer from 
the General Fund is hereby appropriated as follows: 
 
Resources      Debit   Credit 
 01-7000 Operating Contingency  $400,000 
 01-5445 School Excise Tax      $400,000 
 
 
DATED THIS 13TH DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018. 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Jim Lepin, Mayor 
City of Millersburg, Oregon 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Kimberly Wollenburg, City Recorder 
 


	CA1_Council Action 02132018 Accounts Payable.pdf
	UAction RequestedU:  Consent agenda approval of the attached accounts payable. One item of interest includes payment to Pacific Power for the re-lamping and addition of street lights on Old Salem Road which was previously approved by the City Council ...
	Included is a copy of our Local Government Invest Pool (LGIP) account balances; the main account 5809 – Millersburg City Of, includes water and sewer SDC funds, property taxes received, franchise fees received, user fees for water and sewer, planning ...
	UDiscussionU:
	Statements attached.

	NB1b_Agreement_Cardno_Stormwater Master Plan.pdf
	MILLERBURG PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

	NB3a_Council Action Street Fee Update.pdf
	UDiscussionU:
	UBudget ImpactU:

	Binder1.pdf
	NB3c_Resolution 2018- Street Improvement Fees
	RESOLUTION NO. 2018- _____
	A RESOLUTION UPDATING PUBLIC STREET IMPROVEMENT FEES
	WHEREAS, costs associated with these public street improvements continue to increase; and,
	DATED THIS 13PthP DAY OF FEBRUARY, 2018.
	Jim Lepin, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	Kimberly Wollenburg

	NB4a_Council Action_Public Permitting Process
	UDiscussionU:
	UBudget ImpactU:

	NB4b_Ordinance 2018-_Public Permitting Process
	NB4c_Attach_PRIVATE CONSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
	Sections:
	1.  Definitions.
	2.      Permit required
	3. Approval of drawings and specifications required
	5.   Drawing submittal and public improvement standards
	6. Permit issuance
	7. Permit duration
	8. Fees
	9.  Performance and payment guarantee
	10.   Warranty guarantee
	17.    Penalties
	18.    City acceptance of the public improvement

	NB4d_Resolution 2018- Repealing_Construction of Public Improvements
	NB5a_Council Action_Proposed Charter Amendment
	UAction RequestedU:
	Council discussion and feedback on proposed Charter Amendment.
	UDiscussionU:
	The City of Millersburg in the past has had the City Recorder and Deputy City Recorder as signatory signers on the City banking accounts and last year with the appointment of the City Manager, that position was also added as a signer to the accounts. ...
	However, in review of our City Charter - Section 22 Drafts and Warrants-Signatures; states the following:
	“All drafts and warrants upon funds of the city shall be signed by the mayor and president of the council, and in the absence of either one of these persons, by a council member designated by the mayor or president of the council, whichever one is pre...
	In discussion with the Mayor, he has asked that proposed language be provided to the City Council for consideration of a Charter Amendment to allow the City Council by Resolution to identify authorized signers for the City’s banking accounts.
	Attached you will find proposed language provide by the City Attorney for Council consideration.  Should the Council provide direction to move forward with a proposed City Charter Amendment, notice would be posted in two public places, published in th...
	URecommendation:

	NB5b_City Charter Section 22 Notice
	NB6a_Council Action_Amend7_CH2M
	UDiscussionU:
	UBudget ImpactU:

	NB6b_Amend7_CH2M_2-13-2018
	NB7a_Council Action_Amend1_CH2M OMI
	UAction RequestedU:
	Approval to sign an amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Operations Management International, to provide Millersburg with an Oregon certified Level 1 Distribution Responsible Charge (DRC).
	UDiscussionU:
	The City of Millersburg as a provider of water distribution is required by law to provide a person who will act as DRC for our water infrastructure and to oversee our sampling plan and other regulatory requirements.  The City of Millersburg entered in...
	OMI has provided and amendment to the original agreement for a new one (1) year period with provision for renewal for two (2) year periods if approved by the both parties in writing. They are also proposing adding a new Article 2.3 with regard to inte...
	The final item of the amendment is and update of the monthly base fee for services to $634.41 in Appendix B, 1.1 from the previous monthly rate of $625.00.
	UBudget Impact:
	Annual increase of the base monthly fee for service of, $112.92.
	URecommendation:


	Binder2.pdf
	NB8a_Council Action_Resolution Construction Excise Tax to GAPS
	UAction RequestedU:
	Approval to the attached Resolution for payment of past due Construction Excise Tax to Greater Albany Public Schools.
	UDiscussionU:
	The City entered into an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with Greater Albany Public Schools (GAPS) in 2008 for the collection and remittance of Construction Excise Tax, at the time of building permit issuance by the City.  Remittance to GAPS is to o...
	Staff recently became aware that remittance of the collected tax has not occurred since February 1, 2017.  Staff has reviewed the remittance owed for the remainder of fiscal year 2016-2017 and determined that $131,954.00 was due to GAPS for fees colle...
	The 2017-2018 budget for the Construction Excise Tax is $220,000.00, The fees collected through December 31PstP of this fiscal year already exceed the budget year total estimated for this fiscal year.  It should be noted this is primarily a pass throu...
	Staff is estimating that, based on the fees collected through December 31PstP, we could potentially see an additional $260,000.00 received by the City in Construction Excise Tax and are thus requesting a $400,000.00 transfer of funds from General Fund...
	URecommendation:

	NB8b_2018 Resolution - Transfer and Appropriation-Construction Excise Tax

	Clearwater Pavement Condition - Staff Report.pdf
	Budget Impact:

	Clearwater Images.pdf
	clearwater east of Luckiamute1
	clearwater east of Luckiamute2
	clearwater west of Luckiamute




